### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-23-2017

# In Re SRBA Case No. 39576 Subase No. 37-00864 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44716

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from a decision of the Snake River Basin Adjudication ("SRBA")

District Court denying the Edens' I.R.C.P. 60(b) motion to vacate a default judgment disallowing their Water Right No. 37-864 and their motion for leave to file a late notice of claim.

### B. Course of Proceedings Below.

On February 13, 2013, the SRBA Court entered a Partial Decree of disallowal in default for Water Right No. 37-864 based on the lack of a claim. R Vol. I, pp. 113 and 150. On August 26, 2014, the SRBA Court incorporated this Partial Decree of disallowal by reference in the SRBA Final Unified Decree. R Vol. I, pp. 943 and 956. On September 30, 2016, pursuant to I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4) and 60(b)(6), the Edens filed with the SRBA Court a motion to set aside the Partial Decree of disallowal for Water Right No. 37-864. R Vol. I, pp. 259-274. Also on September 30, 2016, the Edens filed a motion to file late notice of claim for Water Right No. 37-864 with the SRBA Court. R Vol. I, pp. 245-258.

On November 8, 2016, after hearing, the SRBA District Court entered its Order Denying Motion to Set Aside; Order Denying Motion to File Late Claim with respect to the Edens' Motions. R Vol. I, pp. 375-384. This Appeal followed.

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Partial Decree" refers to an individual water right decree in the SRBA.

### C. Statement of Facts.<sup>2</sup>

Gary and Glenna Eden purchased the subject property and the appurtenant water rights in 1992. R Vol. I, pp. 230-237, 256-258. Two water rights were appurtenant to an approximately 40 acre portion of this property, Water Right No. 37-864 which had been decreed in the 1918 *Gomes v. Devaney* decree, and also a supplemental storage right from American Falls Reservoir District No. 2. R Vol. I, pp. 230-237, 254-255. As decreed in 1918, Water Right No. 37-864 was a right from the Big Wood River for the irrigation of 40 acres with a priority date of September 28, 1896. R Vol. I, pp. 254-255. Typically, Water Right No. 37-864 is no longer deliverable after July, at which time the supplemental storage water from the American Falls Reservoir District No. 2 is delivered to the 40 acre parcel. R Vol. I, p. 281.

1. The Edens' Attempt to Claim 37-864 Thwarted by IDWR's Incorrectly Addressed Response

On or about April 28, 2005, the Idaho Department of Water Resources (IDWR) sent the Edens a letter referencing "SRBA Notices of Claim to a Water Right #37-365, 37-366 and 37-367B and Decrees #37-10322 and 37-10953," requesting confirmation of their correct mailing address. R Vol. I, p. 214. By referencing these SRBA water right claims and decrees in its April 28, 2005, letter to the Edens, IDWR recognized these water rights belonged to the Edens and, in fact, that Water Right No. 37-10953 was among the rights that already had been partially decreed in the SRBA to the Edens. R Vol. I, p. 709. Shortly thereafter, in early May 2005, the Edens signed and returned the April 28, 2005, letter to IDWR, as requested, confirming

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Timeline of Key Dates is included in the Addenda to this Brief.

their new Shoshone address. R Vol. I, p. 214. This letter confirming the Edens' new address in Shoshone was received at IDWR on, or before, May 17, 2005, because the Edens' signed and returned copy in IDWR records bears the notation "records previously modified," along with what appears to be the IDWR agent's initials and the date "5-17-05." R Vol. I, p. 214. (emphasis in original).

Shortly thereafter, the IDWR agent prepared a response letter, dated May 19, 2005, to the Edens with the following subject line: "Re: Snake River Basin Adjudication (SRBA) Notice of Claim to a Water Right #37-864." R Vol. I, p. 229. In this letter, the IDWR agent thanked the Edens for "signing and returning my address change letter so promptly" and, significantly for purposes of this Appeal, also confirmed receipt of the Edens' enclosures attempting to claim Water Right No. 37-864 with the statement that, "I gathered from the enclosures you sent me that you would like to file a claim on 37-864." R Vol. I, p. 229. The May 19, 2005, IDWR letter also referred to an enclosed claim form and instructions for the Edens to use for claiming Water Right No. 37-864 and the applicable filing fees. However, although the Edens had just confirmed their correct address in Shoshone, the May 19, 2005, IDWR response letter was addressed to the Edens at an incorrect address in Gooding. R Vol. I, p. 229. The Edens never received this incorrectly addressed letter from IDWR or the enclosed claim form and instructions. R Vol. I, pp. 231, 238-239. If they had received the May 19, 2005, letter, they would have followed its instructions and responded accordingly. R Vol. I, pp. 231, 238-239. The Edens, receiving no response from IDWR to the claim they submitted for 37-864, rightly considered the matter adequately taken care of to IDWR's satisfaction. R Vol. I, pp. 231 and 239.

### 2. Fatally Defective Proof of Second Round Service

Around this same period of time, early May 2005, IDWR claims to have served the Edens with the "Second Round Service Notice" for Water Right No. 37-864, statutorily required for unclaimed water rights in the SRBA under Idaho Code § 42-1408(4). R Vol. I, pp. 924-932. However, the proof of service of this Second Round Service Notice on the Edens for 37-864 that IDWR filed with the SRBA Court on June 1, 2005 - the Affidavit of Danni M. Smith Re: Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1 ("Second Round Service Affidavit") – is fatally defective with respect to its Exhibits A and B. R Vol. I, pp. 924-932. This Second Round Service Affidavit references an attached Exhibit A, which is supposed to be a copy of the Second Round Service Notice, but it actually has no Exhibit A attached. R Vol. I, p. 925. During the March 28, 2017, hearing before the District Court on objections to the Clerk's record, the absence of this critical Exhibit A from the proof of Second Round Service was acknowledged by the State:

MS. KNOWLTON: ... I want to make some comments concerning the Affidavit of Danni Smith that was at issue here. We agree with the appellants that the Affidavit of Danni Smith included in the record as Exhibit 9, on pages 903 to 911, appears to be missing Exhibit A. Exhibit A is referred to in the affidavit as a Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37 Part 1....

I will represent that I did contact the court clerk about this, and it appears that is what is on the record with this Court. That particular affidavit on the record is missing Exhibit A....

Tr Vol. II, p. 6, LL. 5-18. Also, at the same hearing, District Judge acknowledged that this Exhibit A is missing from the proof of Second Round Service, the Affidavit of Danni Smith, filed with the SRBA Court:

MS. HOFSTETTER: ... And then also there is the matter of the exhibits to the Affidavit of Danni Smith, and my sense is that that's the way the record appears and so that's what the Court record reflects.

THE COURT: That's correct.

MS. HOFSTETTER: Thank you.

Tr Vol. II, p. 5, LL. 2-7. Additionally, while the Second Round Service Affidavit of Danni Smith refers to a Second Round Service Notice mailing list attached as Exhibit B, there is no attached marked Exhibit B. R Vol. I, pp. 924-932. Thus, the filed Second Round Service Affidavit in the Court's record from 2005 does not provide the contents of the Second Round Service Notice that IDWR purportedly served or even definitively establish who received such Notice, although the filing of proof of Second Round Service, adequate to demonstrate compliance with both the substantive and procedural Second Round Service requirements is statutorily mandated under Idaho Code § 42-1408(5).

The Second Round Service Notice that IDWR now purports should have been attached to the Second Round Service Affidavit, states that "Assistance in filing Notices of Claims filed in this adjudication may be obtained at all offices of IDWR." R Vol. I, p. 221. It also states that SRBA water right claims could be submitted on IDWR forms "or a reasonable facsimile." R Vol. I, p. 221. Although due to the defects in the Second Round Service Affidavit's Exhibits A and B, the SRBA Court record does not establish whether the Edens received this purported Second

Round Service Notice, it appears that their actions, attempting to submit a claim and seeking the assistance of IDWR, were consistent with its terms nevertheless. They submitted a claim for 37-864 to IDWR in sufficient form that the IDWR agent acknowledged in the misaddressed May 19, 2005, letter the Edens never received, "I gathered from the enclosures you sent me that you would like to file a claim on 37-864." R Vol. I, p. 229. However, the Edens never received the misaddressed IDWR response with the follow-up claim instructions. Having just confirmed their mailing address for IDWR, and receiving nothing further from IDWR on the subject, the Edens considered the matter addressed. R Vol. I, pp. 231 and 239.

### 3. Partial Decree of Disallowal Entered without Notice to the Edens

On October 12, 2012, pursuant to the State's recommendation, the SRBA Court set a deadline of January 31, 2013, for closing claims taking in a number of basins, including Basin 37, where Water Right No. 37-864 was located. R Vol. I, p. 8. This "Deadline Order" found *inter alia* that, "Claimants in each of these basins previously received extensive first round and second-round *Notice of Filing Requirements* in the SRBA. *See* Idaho Code § 42-1408. These notice procedures meet constitutional due process requirements. *LU Ranching Co. v. U.S.*, 138 Idaho 606 (2003). " R Vol. I., pp. 6-7. Apparently, the SRBA Court did not realize at the time that the Second Round Service Affidavit did not effectively establish service of this statutorily (and Constitutionally) required Notice on the Edens or on the other holders of unclaimed water rights in Basin 37, Part 1. The certificate of mailing attached to the Deadline Order indicates it was mailed to a list of major SRBA stakeholders and their representatives, but not to the Edens although they would have been identified as unclaimed water right holders

through the Idaho Code 42-1408 Second Round Service process. R Vol. I, pp. 9-13. While the Deadline Order would have been listed on the monthly SRBA Docket Sheet, the SRBA Court record does not include mailing lists or certificates of service for confirming service of such Docket Sheets and the Edens claim they did not receive any SRBA Docket Sheets. *See* Affidavit of Dana L. Hofstetter Pursuant to Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Order (June 19, 2017). Thus, it is uncontroverted that the Edens did not receive personal service of the Deadline Order or notice that default with respect to Water Right No. 37-864 was imminent.

Then, on February 13, 2013, the SRBA Court issued an Order Closing Claims Taking Basins #01, 02, 03, 31, 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 45, 47, and 63 and Disallowal of Unclaimed Water Rights ("Partial Decree of Disallowal"), decreeing 37-864 along with the other unclaimed water rights listed on its Exhibit 1 as disallowed. R Vol. I, pp. 113 and 150. Apparently still unaware of the defect in the Second Round Service Affidavit, the SRBA Court in the Partial Decree of Disallowal, as in the Deadline Order, found that, "Claimants in each of these basins previously received extensive first round and second-round *Notice of Filing Requirements* in the SRBA. *See* Idaho Code § 42-1408. These notice procedures meet constitutional due process requirements. *LU Ranching Co. v. U.S.*, 138 Idaho 606 (2003)." R Vol. I, p. 111. And, again, the attached certificate of mailing for the Partial Decree of Disallowal did not include the Edens or others who IDWR would have identified as holders of the subject unclaimed water rights through the Idaho Code 42-1408(4) process. R Vol. I, pp. 114-118. Further, again, there is nothing in the record indicating that the Edens personally received the Docket Sheet for the month the Partial Decree of Disallowal was issued and the Edens claim they did not personally receive any SRBA

Docket Sheets. *See* Affidavit of Dana L. Hofstetter Pursuant to Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Order (June 19, 2017). Thus, the Edens also did not receive personal service of notice that default had been entered for the failure to claim Water Right No. 37-864.

On August 26, 2014, the SRBA Court entered the Final Unified Decree, which referenced the Partial Decree of Disallowal for Water Right No. 37-864. R Vol. I, pp. 943 and 956. The voluminous Final Unified Decree, according to its terms, was not served on individual parties like the Edens but was ordered to be maintained in IDWR files and recorded at the Counties. R Vol. I., pp. 946-947. And, again, there is nothing in the record to indicate the Edens were served personally with the SRBA Docket Sheet for this month and they were not. *See* Affidavit of Dana L. Hofstetter Pursuant to Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Order (June 19, 2017).

It was not until 2015/2016 that the Edens first received word that Water Right No. 37-864 had been decreed disallowed in default in 2013 for the failure to claim it. R Vol. I, pp. 231 and 356. In 2015, over two years after issuance of the default judgment for 37-864, the Edens received a letter from Water District 37 indicating that Water Right No. 37-864 no longer would be delivered, but reserving for further discussion whether the American Falls Reservoir District No. 2 supplemental water would remain deliverable by the Big Wood Canal Company to the subject 40 acres. R Vol. I, p. 356. The issue of the deliverability of Water Right No. 37-864 and the associated American Falls Reservoir District No. 2 storage came up at one of the Big Wood Canal Company's 2016 irrigation season Board of Directors meetings. R Vol. I, p. 231. Shortly thereafter, a Big Wood Canal Company board member contacted Mr. Eden informing him that the Big Wood Canal Company had been advised by its legal counsel that the storage water also

could not be delivered since Water Right No. 37-864 was no longer valid and advised him to hire a water attorney to address the matter. R Vol. I, p. 231.

The Edens promptly engaged counsel and shortly thereafter, the Edens' Motion to Set Aside Final Unified Decree and Order Closing Claims Taking Basins 01, 02, 03, 31, 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 45, 47, and 63, and Disallowal of Unclaimed Water Rights, ("Motion to Set Aside Partial Decree"), was filed with the SRBA Court, along with the Edens' Expedited Motion to File Late Notice of Claim for Water Right No. 37-864 (collectively "Motions"). R Vol. I, pp. 245-258, 259-274. These two Motions sought only the setting aside of the SRBA Partial Decree of Disallowal for Water Right No. 37-864 and its associated incorporation by reference in the Final Unified Decree, and referral of the SRBA Claim for 37-864 to IDWR for processing, leaving the remainder of the SRBA Final Unified Decree and all the other Orders and Partial Decrees of the SRBA Court intact and unaltered in other respects. R Vol. I, p. 270. This was consistent with precedent, including in recent months, for individual SRBA water right Partial Decrees to be periodically opened for correction or amendment, without impacting other aspects of the SRBA Final Unified Decree. See e.g., R Vol. I, pp. 1191, 1204, 1206 and 1212.

Although the Edens' Motions were served on the entire SRBA Court Certificate of Mailing for Expedited Hearings and thereby sent by mail to the major SRBA parties or their representatives, such as the United States Department of Justice, Idaho Power Company, J.R. Simplot Company, Nez Perce Tribe, Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, Idaho Ground Water Appropriators, Northside and Twin Falls Canal Companies, and the Big Wood Canal Company, only the State of Idaho came forward in opposition to the Edens' Motions. R Vol. I, pp. 250 and

271-274. In fact, the water user community, including the Big Wood Canal Company whose Director notified the Edens of the need to address this matter through the SRBA Court, and even the Basin 37 Watermaster, supported the Edens in their efforts to have Water Right No. 37-864 reinstated so that it could continue to be delivered. R Vol. I, pp. 231 and 282.

# II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court improperly ruled that the Partial Decree of Disallowal for 37-864, entered in default, would not be set aside under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4), when the record does not support the District Court's finding that IDWR served the Edens the Idaho Code 42-1408 required Second Round Service Notice because IDWR's filed Second Round Service Affidavit omits Exhibit A, the Notice itself, and Exhibit B, the mailing list, is not marked?
- B. Whether the District Court improperly ruled that the Partial Decree of Disallowal for 37-864, entered in default, would not be set aside under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4), although the Edens were not personally served with notice of default pursuant to I.R.C.P. 55?
- C. Whether the District Court improperly ruled that the Partial Decree of Disallowal for 37-864, entered in default, would not be set aside under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4), because the statutorily required Second Round Service Notice purportedly sent to the Edens, pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1408, was defective, under the facts of this case, since the Edens sought the assistance of IDWR in filing the claim for 37-864, and IDWR responded to the Edens at an incorrect address, different from the correct address the Edens had confirmed to IDWR, and the Edens never received that IDWR response?

- D. Whether the District Court improperly ruled that the Partial Decree of Disallowal for 37 864, entered in default, would not be set aside under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(6), when there were "unique and compelling circumstances" involving the Edens' confirming in writing their correct mailing address, and IDWR nevertheless then using an incorrect mailing address to provide the Edens information that their SRBA claim for 37-864 had been rejected?
- E. Whether the District Court improperly denied the Edens' Motion to File Late

  Notice of Claim on the basis their Motion to Set Aside the Partial Decree of Disallowal had been denied?

### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review.

"The Court exercises free review over questions of law and matters of statutory interpretation." *Guzman v. Piercy*, 155 Idaho 928, 934, 318 P.3d 918, 924 (2014). "The question of compliance with the rules of procedure and evidence is one of law.... This Court freely reviews conclusions of law." *State v. Hagerman Water Right Owners, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 736, 740, 947 P.2d 409, 413 (1997). However, findings of fact will be set aside if "clearly erroneous." *Sun Valley Shamrock Res., Inc. v. Travelers Leasing Corp.*, 118 Idaho 116, 118, 794 P.2d 1389, 1391 (1990) "To decide whether findings of fact are clearly erroneous, this Court must determine whether the findings are supported by substantial, competent evidence." *Lovitt v. Robideaux*, 139 Idaho 322, 325, 78 P.3d 389, 392 (2003). "Evidence is substantial if a reasonable trier of fact would accept it and rely on it." *Aspiazu v. Mortimer*, 139 Idaho 548, 550, 82 P.3d 830, 832 (2003).

"[R]elief from a void judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) is nondiscretionary and is subject to free review on appeal." Fisher Sys. Leasing, Inc. v. J & J Gunsmithing & Weaponry Design, Inc., 135 Idaho 624, 627, 21 P.3d 946, 949 (Ct. App. 2001). "[A] trial court's dismissal of a Rule 60(b)(6) motion for relief" is reviewed "for abuse of discretion." Berg v. Kendall, 147 Idaho 571, 578, 212 P.3d 1001, 1008 (2009). When reviewing an exercise of discretion on appeal, this Court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine:

- (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion;
- (2) whether the court acted within the outer bounds of such discretion and consistently with legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

Brinkmeyer v. Brinkmeyer, 135 Idaho 596, 599, 21 P.3d 918, 921 (2001).

Determining whether to set aside a default judgment required that the District Court "apply a standard of liberality rather than strictness and give the party moving to vacate the default the benefit of genuine doubt." *Johnson v. Pioneer Title Co.*, 104 Idaho 727, 733, 662 P.2d 1171, 1177 (Ct. App. 1983). In default cases, it is required that the lower court must weigh each case in light of its unique facts. *Id.* at 732, 662 P.2d at 1176 (citing *Orange Transportation Co., Inc. v. Taylor,* 71 Idaho 275, 230 P.2d 689 (1951)). In making the determination, the deciding court also must take into consideration that judgments by default are not favored and that the general rule in doubtful cases is to grant relief from the default in order to reach a judgment on the merits. *Reeves v. Wisenor,* 102 Idaho 271, 272, 629 P.2d 667, 668 (1981); *Nickels v. Durbano,* 118 Idaho 198, 201, 795 P.2d 903, 906 (Ct. App. 1990). Where the trial court "applies the facts in a logical manner to the criteria set forth in Rule 60(b), while keeping in mind the policy favoring relief in doubtful cases, the court

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