Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-21-2017

In Re SRBA Case No. 39576 Subase No. 37-00864 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44716

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

Additionally, "[i]t is incumbent upon a party seeking relief from a judgment not only to meet the requirements of I.R.C.P. 60(b), but also to show, plead or present evidence of facts which, if established, would constitute a meritorious defense to the action." *Id.* (citation omitted). "This policy recognizes that it would be an idle exercise and a waste of judicial resources for a court to set aside a judgment if, in fact, there is no genuine justiciable controversy." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A motion under Rule 60(b) must also be timely. "A motion under Rule 60(b) must be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) no more than 6 months after the entry of judgment or order or the date of the proceeding." I.R.C.P. 60(c)(1). The Edens

requested relief from the *Final Unified Decree* and the *Closure Order* under Rule 60(b)(4) and Rule 60(b)(6). R. Vol. I, pp. 259–71.

A. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Denying the Edens' Motion to Set Aside the *Final Unified Decree* and the *Closure Order* Under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4).

To grant a motion under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4), the District Court would have had to conclude that both the *Final Unified Decree* and the *Closure Order* were void. "Generally, the [c]ourt may declare a judgment void only for defects of personal jurisdiction or subject-matter jurisdiction." *Meyers*, 148 Idaho at 291, 221 P.3d at 89. "However, a judgment is also void if the 'court's action amounts to a plain usurpation of power constituting a violation of due process." *Id.* (quoting *Dep't of Health & Welfare v. Housel*, 140 Idaho 96, 100, 90 P.3d 321, 325 (2004)). The Edens did not challenge the District Court's personal or subject matter jurisdiction, but instead argued that their right to due process was violated. R. Vol. I, pp. 265–67.

"Procedural due process requires that there must be some process to ensure that the individual is not arbitrarily deprived of his rights in violation of the state or federal constitutions." *Meyers*, 148 Idaho at 291, 221 P.3d at 89 (quoting *Cowan v. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 143 Idaho 501, 510, 148 P.3d 1247, 1256 (2006)). "[A]n individual must be provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard." *Id.* (quoting *Spencer v. Kootenai Cty.*, 145 Idaho 448, 454, 180 P.3d 487, 493 (2008)). Importantly, "[d]ue process is not a rigid concept. Instead, the protections and safeguards necessarily vary according to the situation." *Id.* at 292, 221 P.3d at 90.

1. The Edens' Arguments That They Did Not Receive Second-Round Service and That the Affidavit of Second-Round Service Did Not Meet Statutory Requirements Were Not Raised at the District Court and Are, Therefore, Waived.

The Edens agree with the District Court's conclusion that that the first and second-round notice procedures set forth in Idaho Code § 42-1408 meet constitutional due process requirements. *Appellants' Br.* at 20 (citing *LU Ranching Co. v. United States*, 138 Idaho 606, 608-10, 67 P.3d 85, 87–89 (2003)); R. Vol. I, p. 377. On appeal, the Edens allege, however, that there was not substantial evidence to support the District Court's finding that the Edens, in fact, received second-round service in May 2005. *Appellants' Br.* at 4–6, 16–22. The Edens also appear to argue that the second-round service circulated in Basin 37 was insufficient because the affidavit of second-round service for Basin 37, Part 1, filed with the District Court on June 1, 2005, did not meet the requirements of Idaho Code § 42-1408(5). *Id.* at 16–22. These arguments were never raised before the District Court. Moreover, these allegations are inapposite to the factual allegations made by the Edens before the District Court in support of their motions.

i. <u>It Was Undisputed in the Proceeding Before the District Court That</u> the Edens Received Second-Round Service.

The Edens Motion to Set Aside the *Final Unified Decree* and the *Closure Order* alleged that "in early May 2005, *the Edens received the SRBA Second Round Service Notice*, likely due to their ownership of the place of use associated with unclaimed Water Right No. 37-864." R. Vol. I, p. 261 (emphasis added). The Edens further alleged that "in response to *the recently received Second Round Service Notice*, the Edens also enclosed [with the change of address form] documentation attempting to claim Water Right No. 37-864 in the SRBA." *Id.* (emphasis added). The legal theories advanced by the Edens at the District Court for setting aside the *Final*

Unified Decree and the *Closure Order* were prefaced on the Edens, in fact, receiving second-round service:

Without a response, the Edens believed IDWR had accepted their submission and that it was adequate... This belief was reasonable in view of their receipt of the Second Round Service Notice, stating that, "Assistance in filing Notices of Claims filed in this adjudication may be obtained at all offices of IDWR' "and that Notices of Claims must be filed on forms prepared by IDWR or a reasonable facsimile." Affidavit of Dana Hofstetter, Exhibit 2, at Exhibit B, p. 3 (emphasis added). Having received Second Round Service and then complying by contacting IDWR to claim 37-864, the Edens effectively were denied their due process notice and hearing opportunities with respect to 37-864 when IDWR used the incorrect address for the May 19, 2005 response letter.

R. Vol. I, p. 266 (emphasis added).

In support of their motions, the Edens filed the *Affidavit of Dana L. Hofstetter* ("Hofstetter Affidavit") with attached exhibits. R. Vol. I, pp. 206–29. The Hofstetter Affidavit stated:

Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of *Affidavit of Danni M. Smith Re: Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1*, filed with the SRBA Court on June 1, 2005. I obtained this copy of Exhibit 2 from IDWR. Attached as Exhibits A and B to this document (but unmarked in this version) are copies of respectively the Second Round Service Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1 and the service list for Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1. The first page of Exhibit B to the *Affidavit of Danni M. Smith*, indicates *inter alia* that on May 5, 2005, Gary T. and Glenna Eden were mailed Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1 at the correct mailing address they had confirmed by return of the April 28, 2005 letter . . .

R. Vol. I, p. 207.

The Affidavit of Danni M. Smith Re: Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1 ("Smith Affidavit") including Exhibits A and B that the Edens filed in support of their motions is included in the Record at pages 215 through 227. Also attached to the Hofstetter Affidavit as Exhibit 3 was "a true and correct copy of the certified return receipt signed by Glenna Eden on May 6, 2005, that [Ms. Hofstetter] obtained from IDWR." R. Vol. I, pp. 207,

228. It was undisputed in the proceeding before the District Court that the *Second-Round*Service Notice attached as Exhibit A to the Smith Affidavit filed by the Edens was the notice the Edens received in May 2005. See R. Vol. I, pp. 207, 266.

At the hearing before the District Court, the Edens' counsel continued to represent that the Edens received second-round service and continued to rely on the *Second Round Service Notice* attached as Exhibit A to the *Smith Affidavit* in arguing the Edens' motions. Tr. Vol. I, p. 9 Ls. 10–24, p. 10 Ls. 11–18, p. 11 Ls. 15–20, p. 19 Ls. 9–21, p. 21 Ls. 1–6. In fact, at the hearing, the Edens' counsel referred to blown up pages from the *Second Round Service Notice* to emphasize language that the Edens argued led them to believe that filing documentation with a change of address form was sufficient to file a claim in the SRBA. Tr. Vol. I, p. 14 Ls. 18–24. The District Court also specifically asked the Edens' counsel whether the Edens were arguing that they did not receive notice or that the notice they received was defective. Tr. Vol. I, p. 17 Ls. 19–22. In response, counsel for the Edens stated: "Okay. So I want to make it absolutely clear we're not contesting whether they received second round service notice. We agree they received that. We're not challenging the content of the second round service and it's [sic] adequacy." Tr. Vol. I, p. 19 Ls. 9–13.

It was uncontested in the proceeding before the District Court that the Edens received the *Second-Round Service Notice* attached as Exhibit A to the *Smith Affidavit*. In fact, it was the Edens who introduced the *Smith Affidavit* and the *Second-Round Service Notice* into evidence in the proceeding before the District Court. The District Court, therefore, did not error in finding that "in early May 2005, the Movants received second round service notice of the commencement of the SRBA." R. Vol. I, p. 376. As the District Court correctly concluded, that fact was undisputed. R. Vol. I, p. 378.

ii. Whether the Affidavit of Second-Round Service for Basin 37, Part 1
Met the Requirements of Idaho Code § 42-1408(5) Is a New Legal
Theory Raised for the First Time on Appeal.

On appeal, the Edens for the first time allege that the affidavit of second-round service for Basin 37, Part 1, filed with the District Court on June 1, 2005, did not comply with Idaho Code § 42-1408(5). *Appellants' Br.* at 16–22. In support of this argument, the Edens rely on the *Smith Affidavit* included in the Record at pages 924 through 932.

The Record on Appeal includes two copies of the *Smith Affidavit*. The *Smith Affidavit* on pages 215 through 227 is the *Smith Affidavit* that Ms. Hofstetter obtained from IDWR's records, that was filed in SRBA subcase 37-864 by the Edens, and was before the District Court when it ruled on the Edens' motions. *See* R. Vol. I, p. 207. The *Smith Affidavit* on pages 924 through 932 is the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case (case no. 00-39576) that IDWR allegedly filed on June 1, 2005. In their Notice of Appeal, the Edens requested the inclusion of the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case file in the Record on Appeal. R. Vol. I, p. 387. This copy of the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case records was not presented in the subcase below or considered by the District Court in ruling on the Edens' motions.

On appeal, the Edens for the first time allege that the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case file is insufficient because it is missing Exhibit A (the Second-Round Service Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1). *Appellants' Br.* at 16–22. The Edens state in their briefing that the alleged discrepancy between the *Smith Affidavit* in the SRBA main case file and the *Smith Affidavit* from IDWR's records was not discovered by the Edens until they were served with the record in this appeal. *Id.* at 17 n.3.

¹² As this issue has not been raised until on appeal, the State has not had an opportunity to investigate this issue and whether the *Smith Affidavit* currently on record in the SRBA main case is representative of what IDWR actually filed on June 1, 2005.

The version of the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case was never filed in SRBA subcase no. 37-864. Nor was any potential discrepancy between the *Smith Affidavit* on file with IDWR—which was filed in this subcase—and the *Smith Affidavit* from SRBA main case records raised in the proceeding before the District Court on the Edens' motions. As this Court recently reiterated, "[a]n appellant is bound by the issues and theories upon which the case was tried below. Although a judgment may be sustained upon any legal theory, a new theory cannot be employed on appeal to attack the judgment." *Deiter v. Coons*, 162 Idaho 44, 47, 394 P.3d 87, 90 (2017) (quoting *Clements Farms, Inc. v. Ben Fish & Son*, 120 Idaho 185, 207, 814 P.2d 917, 939 (1991)). The Edens' argument that the *Final Unified Decree* and the *Closure Order* for Basin 37 should be set aside because the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case file is missing pages cannot be employed to attack the District Court's *Order*.

Additionally, even if the argument was not waived, it would not support a conclusion that the *Final Unified Decree* and *Closure Order* for Basin 37 should be set aside because the Edens did not receive due process. The *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case records appears to be missing Exhibit A (The Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1). *Compare* R. Vol. I, pp. 215–227, *with* R. Vol. I, pp. 924–932. Besides the missing pages and some handwritten notations, the *Smith Affidavit* from IDWR's records and the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA main case records are identical. *Id*.

Both copies of the *Smith Affidavit* state that "A Second Round Service of Commencement Notice for Basin 37, Part 1 (Second Round Notice) was prepared pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1408(4) and is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> and incorporated by this reference." R. Vol. I, pp. 216, 925 (emphasis in original). It appears that the *Smith Affidavit* from the SRBA

main case file was intended to include Exhibit A, but for reasons unknown those pages are missing.

However, even if pages were lost in the transmission of the *Smith Affidavit* from IDWR to the District Court in June 2005, it would not change the second-round service notice actually received by the Edens. The *Smith Affidavit* lists the Edens as persons who were mailed the *Second-Round Service Notice*. R. Vol. I, pp. 223, 928. IDWR is the entity charged with circulating first and second-round service. Idaho Code § 42-1408. IDWR's records show that the *Second-Round Service Notice* included in the Record at pages 219 through 222 was the notice mailed out in Basin 37, Part 1. *See* R. Vol. I, pp. 207, 215–22. The Edens never disputed this fact before the District Court. IDWR records also indicate that the Edens, in fact, received by certified mail the *Second-Round Service Notice* on May 6, 2005. R. Vol. I, pp. 223, 228. Any error in transmitting the *Smith Affidavit* from IDWR to the SRBA District Court did not affect the notice served on the Edens and is irrelevant to the determination of whether the Edens received due process.

Additionally, Idaho Code § 42-1408(5) states that "[t]he director shall file with the district court such proof of service as may be required to demonstrate compliance" with the requirements in Idaho Code § 42-1408(1)–(4). There is no express statutory requirement that an affidavit filed with the court include a copy of the second-round service notice circulated to meet this requirement. Even if a copy of the second-round service notice was not attached to the *Smith Affidavit*, paragraph 3 of the *Smith Affidavit* independently verifies that the second-round notice was served upon all persons listed in Exhibit B. R. Vol. I, pp. 216, 925. The Edens do not provide any argument beyond conclusory statements as to why an affidavit of service of second-

round notice must include a copy of the notice circulated to meet the requirements of Idaho Code § 42-1408(5). See Appellants' Br. at 18–19.

The Edens are attempting to raise new issues on appeal and to support those issues with evidence that was not before the District Court in this proceeding. The Edens had an opportunity to raise these issues below and give the State an opportunity to address these factual contentions regarding the *Smith Affidavit*. They did not. They cannot now raise these issues for the first time on appeal and attempt to overturn the District Court's *Order* based on evidence and legal theories the District Court did not consider.

2. The District Court Did Not Err in Ruling That the Edens' Belief That They Properly Filed a Claim in the SRBA Was Unreasonable.

"This Court has long accepted that water rights adjudications present unique circumstances, often requiring a departure from established rules of procedure." *Basin-Wide Issue 3*, 128 Idaho 246, 254, 912 P.2d 614, 622 (1995). It is for this reason that the Legislature developed the specific procedural rules for stream adjudications in chapter 14, title 42, Idaho Code, including the notice procedures set forth in Idaho Code § 42-1408. *Id.* at 255, 912 P.2d at 623. As the Edens recognize on appeal, this Court has previously held that the notice procedures utilized in the SRBA meet constitutional due process requirements. *Appellants' Br.* at 20; *LU Ranching Co. v. United States*, 138 Idaho 606, 608–10, 67 P.3d 85, 87–89 (2003). "Any person who fails to submit a required notice of claim shall be deemed to have been constructively served with notice of a general adjudication by publication and mailing as required by section 42-1408, Idaho Code." Idaho Code § 42-1409(5). It was uncontroverted in the proceeding before the

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